FILED SID J. WHITE

SEP 23 1997

SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

Case No. 91,424

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

By
Chief Deputy Clerk

AVATAR DEVELOPMENT CORP. and AMIKAM TANEL,

Petitioners,

vs.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

PETITIONERS' BRIEF ON JURISDICTION

Petition To Review Decision Of The Fourth District Court Of Appeal

John H. Pelzer, Esq.
RUDEN, McCLOSKY, SMITH
SCHUSTER & RUSSELL, P.A.
Attorney for Avatar Petitioners
200 East Broward Boulevard,
Post Office Box 1900
Fort Lauderdale, Florida 33302
(954)764-6660; Miami (305)789-2700

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS AND OF THE CASE

An information was filed by the State on November 28, 1995, charging Avatar with violating the conditions of a permit pursuant to § 403.161(1)(b) and § 403.161(5), Fla. Stat. (1993). App.1.

The county court below dismissed the information, finding that Fla. Stat. § 403.161(1)(b) and § 403.161(5) violated Art. I, § 18 and Art. II, § 3 of the Florida Constitution because they unconstitutionally delegated to an administrative agency the power to define a crime. It also found that § 403.161(1)(b) and § 403.161(5) violated Avatar's due process rights because the acts prohibited by the statutes did not appear on the face of the statutes. App.2.

On July 16, 1997, the Fourth District Court of Appeal reversed the county court's decision, expressly finding the challenged statutes to be constitutional. App.3.

On August 19, 1997, the Fourth District Court of Appeal denied Avatar's motion for rehearing. App.4.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Fourth District Court has expressly held that § 403.161(1)(b) and § 403.161(5), Fla. Stat.(1993), which violate Florida's constitutional nondelegation doctrine and the separation of powers, are constitutionally valid and enforceable. Pursuant to Art. V, § 3(b)(3) of the Florida Constitution, the District Court's express finding provides a basis for jurisdiction in this Court.

The Decision also expressly and directly conflicts with this Court's decisions holding that all challenged delegations in the criminal context must expressly articulate reasonably definite standards of implementation that do not merely grant open-ended authority, but that impose an actual limit - both minimum and maximum - on what an agency may do. The Decision determines that a statute, which in effect allows an agency to define crimes as it chooses, is constitutional. Such a finding is not only in direct conflict with decisions of this Court, but it is also contrary to Florida's strong policy against allowing administrative agencies to define crimes. Therefore, this Court should exercise its discretionary jurisdiction and hear this case on its merits.

Additionally, the Decision expressly and directly conflicts with this Court's decisions holding that a statute violates Due Process for failure to give adequate notice on its face of the

prohibited acts. The Decision holds Fla. Stat. § 403.161 constitutional even though there is no possible way one can determine from reading the statute what acts are prohibited. Therefore, the Decision expressly and directly conflicts with a decision of this Court on the same question of law, and this Court has jurisdiction.

ARGUMENT

T. THE DECISION EXPRESSLY DECLARES FLA. STAT.
§ 403.161(1)(b) AND FLA. STAT. § 403.161(5)
CONSTITUTIONAL.

Pursuant to Art. V, § 3(b)(3) of the Florida Constitution, this Court has discretionary jurisdiction over district court decisions that expressly declare a state statute constitutional. For jurisdiction to exist in these cases, the decision under review must contain some statement to the effect that a specified statute is valid or enforceable. See Cantor v. Davis, 489 So.2d 18 (Fla. 1986). This Court has further indicated that the term "decision," as used in the constitution's jurisdictional sections, encompasses not merely the result but also the entire opinion. Seaboard Air Line R.R. v. Branham, 104 So.2d 356, 358 (Fla. 1958).

In the Decision at issue, the Fourth District Court of Appeal expressly held that § 403.161(1)(b) and § 403.161(5) of the Florida Statues (1993) are constitutionally valid and enforceable. App.3, p.5. This express finding creates jurisdiction in this Court. Cantor, 489 So.2d 18 at 20. Therefore, pursuant to Art. V, § 3(b)(3), Fla. Const., and Fla. R. App. P. 9.030(a)(2)(A)(i), it is respectfully submitted that this Court should exercise its discretionary jurisdiction and hear this case on its merits.

II. THE DECISION EXPRESSLY AND DIRECTLY CONFLICTS WITH THIS COURT'S DECISION IN B.H. V. STATE OF FLORIDA, 645 So.2d 987 (FLA. 1994), AS WELL AS WITH OTHER CASES.

A. Nondelegation Doctrine

Florida's nondelegation doctrine is based on the principle of separation of powers, which is expressed in Art. II, § 3, of the Florida Constitution as follows:

The powers of the State government shall be divided into legislative, executive, and judicial branches. No person belonging to one branch shall exercise any power appertaining to either of the branches unless expressly provided herein.

This Court "has stated repeatedly and without exception that Florida's Constitution absolutely requires a 'strict' separation of powers." B.H. v. State of Florida, 645 So.2d 987, 991 (Fla. 1994). If a statute purports to give one branch powers that are textually assigned to another by the Constitution, then that statute is unconstitutional. Chiles v. Children A,B,C,D,E,& F, 589 So. 2d 260, 264 (Fla. 1991).

In B.H., the statute at issue created the crime of escape from a commitment facility, and merely left it to the Department of Health and Rehabilitative Services to specify which facilities would fall under the prohibition. 645 So.2d 987. This Court held the statute unconstitutional because it violated the nondelegation

doctrine. 645 so. 2d at 994. The holding was based on the notion that all challenged delegations in the criminal context must expressly articulate reasonably definite standards of implementation that do not merely grant open-ended authority, but impose an actual limit, both minimum and maximum, on what an agency may do. Id.

The Decision of the Fourth District Court of Appeal, which found Fla. Stat. § 403.161(1)(b) and § 403.161(5) to be constitutional, is in conflict with the holding set forth by this Court in B.H. Fla. Stat. § 403.161(1993) provides in pertinent part:

- (1) It shall be a violation of this chapter, and it shall be prohibited for any person: ...
 - (b)... to violate or fail to comply with any rule, regulation, order, permit, or certification adopted or issued by the department pursuant to its lawful authority ...
- (5) Any person who willfully commits a violation specified in paragraph (1)(b) ... is guilty of a misdemeanor of the first degree punishable as provided in ss.775.082(4)(a) and 775.083(1)(g)by a fine of not more than \$10,000 or by 6 months in jail, or by both for each offense.

This statute is an even broader grant to an administrative agency of the power to define a crime than the statute in B.H. In

this case, § 403.161(1)(b), Fla. Stat. (1993), makes it a crime to "violate or fail to comply with any rule, regulation, order, permit, or certification adopted or issued by the department pursuant to its lawful authority." The DEP is not merely permitted to determine one element of a crime, as in B.H., but is invited to legislate any and all crimes it might wish to create, whether by rule, regulation, order, permit, or certification.

The Decision recites various statutory provisions (including § 403.813(2)(f), which applies only to maintenance dredging and not to Avatar's bank stabilization project) to find legislative guidance for the exercise of administrative agency authority. App.3, pp.4, 5. However, these sections provide even less guidance than the statute struck down in B.H. These provisions merely state goals. They not only allow the agency to determine what activities should be regulated to achieve those goals, but also the best methods by which to regulate those activities. In accord with this Court's holding in B.H., such broad authority may not be delegated to an agency. Therefore, an express and direct conflict exists between this Court's decision and the Decision of the Fourth District Court of Appeal.

B. <u>Due Process</u>

In B.H., this Court stated that "the legislature may not delegate with open-ended authority such that no one can say with certainty, from the terms of the law itself, what would be deemed an infringement of the law." B.H., 645 So. 2d at 993 (quoting Connor v. Joe Hatten, 216 So. 2d 209, 211 (Fla. 1968)). A law must give fair notice of what is prohibited. Southeastern Fisheries Association, Inc. v. Department of Natural Resources, 453 So. 2d 1351, 1353-1354 (Fla. 1984). In B.H., this Court determined that due process was violated by "the statute's failure on its face to give adequate notice of the prohibited act." B.H., 645 So. 2d at 993.

The Decision of the Fourth District Court is in direct conflict with this Court's holding in B.H. Section 403.161, Fla. Stat. (1993) violates due process because one cannot determine from the text of the statute what acts are prohibited. In order to determine with certainty the activities prohibited by § 403.161, one must reference all of the DEP's rules, regulations, orders, permits, and the certifications adopted or issued by the Department. The text of all of DEP's rules, regulations, orders, permits and certifications are not included in the face of the statute.

III. THIS COURT SHOULD EXERCISE ITS DISCRETIONARY JURISDICTION BECAUSE FLORIDA HAS A STRONG POLICY AGAINST ALLOWING ADMINISTRATIVE AGENCIES TO DEFINE CRIMES.

Admittedly, the legislature's objective in enacting § 403.161, Fla. Stat. (1993) was to serve the public good. No matter how laudable a piece of legislation may be, however, it is unconstitutional if it delegates to an administrative agency the power to define a crime. Pursuant to the Florida Constitution and to Florida's nondelegation doctrine which is based on the principle of strict separation of powers, there is a strong policy against allowing administrative agencies to define crimes.

Article III of the Constitution states that "the legislative power of the state shall be vested in a legislature of the state of Florida." Art. III § 1, Fla. Const. Furthermore, "the power to create crimes and punishments in derogation of the common law inheres solely in the democratic processes of the legislative branch." Perkins v. State, 576 So.2d 1310, 1312 (Fla. 1991). (emphasis in original.) While the legislature may assign to administrative agencies certain duties involved in applying the law, it is against Florida policy to allow agencies to create the law. B.H., So. 2d at 992.

Although not a basis for jurisdiction, it is important to note the potential evil of allowing an administrative agency to create criminal laws by individual permit, order or certification; in effect a special law. Because the legislature cannot create a crime by a special law, it certainly cannot delegate the power to do so to an agency. Considering the importance Florida places on the nondelegation doctrine and the separation of powers, this Court should exercise its discretionary jurisdiction over such an important policy issue.

CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, it is respectfully submitted that this Court should accept jurisdiction and hear this case on its merits.