### SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

FILED SID J. WHITE

CASE NO. 91,424

OCT 8 1997

AVATAR DEVELOPMENT CORP. and AMIKAM TANEL,

CLERK, SUPREME COURT
By
Chief Deputy Clerk

Petitioners

VS

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent

#### RESPONDENT'S BRIEF ON JURISDICTION

On Review of a Decision of the Fourth District Court of Appeal

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

Jonathan A. Glogau Assistant Attorney General Fla. Bar No. 371823 PL-01, The Capitol Tallahassee, FL 32399-1050 (850) 488-5899 (850) 414-3300 (as of 10/6/97)

##

STATEMENT OF THEE CASE AND FACTS
SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT
ARGUMENT 3
THE DECISION BELOW EXPRESSLY DECLARES §§ 403.161(5) AND 403.161(1)(b), FLA. STAT., CONSTITUTIONAL, BUT SAID DECISION IS NOT ONE OF GREAT IMPORTANCE REQUIRING EXERCISE OF THIS COURT'S DISCRETIONARY JURISDICTION
THE DECISION BELOW DOES NOT CONFLICT WITH B.H. v. STATE OR ANY OTHER DECISION
THIS COURT SHOULD DECLINE TO EXERCISE ITS DISCRETIONARY JURISDICTION
CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 8

# TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

## STATE CASES

Bailey v. Van Pelt, 78 Fla. 337, 82 So. 789 (Fla.1919)
B.H. v. State, 645 So. 2d 987 (Fla. 1994)
State v. Avatar Development Corp., Amikam Tanel, 1997 WL 394482 (Fla.App. 4 Dist. 1997)
State v. Cumming, 365 So. 2d 153 (Fla. 1978)
State v. Rawlins, 623 So. 2d 598 (Fla.App. 5 Dist. 1993)
STATE STATUTES
§ 370.028
§ 403.161(1)(b) passim
§ 403.161(5)
FLORIDA ADMINISTRATIVE CODE
16N-22.03(1)
16N-22.012

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Respondent accepts Petitioners' Statement of the Case and Facts except to add that Petitioners were charged in the information with *willful* violation of the terms of their permit constituting a violation of §§ 403.161(1)(b) and 403.161(5), Fla. Stat.

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The court below did rule that §§ 403.161(5) AND 403.161(1)(b), Fla. Stat., are constitutional. However, this is consistent with the law as it has been since 1919 and does not warrant this court's exercise of its discretionary jurisdiction.

This case does not conflict with *B.H. v. State*, or any other case. The court below did not recognize any conflict and in fact simply applied the existing law to the facts in this case in a manner inconsistent with Petitioners' wishes. Such application does not create a conflict for jurisdiction in this court.

This case presents no new or remarkable issues of law and this court should decline to exercise its discretionary jurisdiction.

#### **ARGUMENT**

THE DECISION BELOW EXPRESSLY DECLARES §§ 403.161(5) AND 403.161(1)(b), FLA. STAT., CONSTITUTIONAL, BUT SAID DECISION IS NOT ONE OF GREAT IMPORTANCE REQUIRING EXERCISE OF THIS COURT'S DISCRETIONARY JURISDICTION

Respondent cannot dispute that the court below ruled that §§ 403.161(5) and 403.161(1)(b), Fla. Stat., are constitutional and that this court has discretionary jurisdiction pursuant to Art. V, § 3(b)(3), Fla. Const. and Rule 9.030(2)(A)(I), FRAP. Such review is discretionary and this case does not warrant the exercise of that discretionary jurisdiction.

The Fourth District Court of Appeal in this case followed existing law and the conclusion of this case is neither new nor remarkable. As early as 1919, this court was faced with a challenge to a statute that made violation of the rules or orders of the Livestock Sanitary Board a misdemeanor. This court found that statute to be constitutional, holding

Authority to make rules and regulations to carry out an expressed legislative purpose, or for the complete operation and enforcement of a law within designated limitations, is not an exclusively legislative power. Such authority is administrative in its nature, and its use by administrative officers is essential to the complete exercise of the powers of all the departments.

The exercise of some authority, discretion, or judgment may be incident or necessary to the performance of administrative or ministerial duties; but such authority, discretion, or judgment is subject to judicial review; and it is not among the powers of government that the Constitution separates into departments. (Citations omitted).

\* \* \* \*

The authority to make administrative rules is not a delegation of legislative power, nor are such rules raised from an administrative to a legislative character because the violation thereof is punished as a public offense. (Citation omitted).

State v. Avatar Development Corp., Amikam Tanel, 1997 WL 394482, \*4

(Fla.App. 4 Dist. 1997), quoting Bailey v. Van Pelt, 78 Fla. 337, 82 So. 789

(Fla.1919). The District Court's opinion applying law in existence since 1919

presents no new issue requiring this court's attention. It is not unusual for the legislature to make the violation of a rule or permit of an administrative agency a misdemeanor. See, State v. Rawlins, 623 So.2d 598 (Fla.App. 5 Dist. 1993)( Rule 16N-22.03(1) specifically states that any person who violates rule 16N-22.012 shall be guilty of a misdemeanor of the second degree.). See, e.g. § 370.028 (violation of rules of Marine Fisheries Commission is a misdemeanor)

This court should DECLINE to exercise its discretionary jurisdiction in this case.

# THE DECISION BELOW DOES NOT CONFLICT WITH B.H. v. STATE OR ANY OTHER DECISION

Petitioners also assert that this court should exercise its jurisdiction because this case conflicts with the decision in *B.H. v. State*, 645 So. 2d 987 (Fla. 1994). The court below not only did not recognize a conflict with *B.H.*, but explicitly applied the standards from that case to reach its conclusion. Petitioners simply are unhappy with the way said standards were applied; that is not a conflict.

The court below cited to B.H. for the proposition that

In the criminal law context, there also may be some degree of flexibility consistent with the nondelegation doctrine, but only to the extent that the statute itself provides adequate notice of the prohibited conduct.

State v. Avatar Development Corp., Amikam Tanel, 1997 WL 394482, \*4 (Fla.App. 4 Dist. 1997), quoting B.H. v. State, 645 So. 2d at 993. The court then went on to determine that the statute contained sufficient standards to meet the requirements of the nondelegation doctrine. This is a proper application of the principles of B.H. In their brief, Petitioners argue the merits of their case, but can show no conflict with B.H. or any other case.

Petitioners' argument with respect to due process is equally meritless. This law does give fair notice of the proscribed conduct - willful violation of the

provisions of their permit. In *State v. Rawlins*, the Fifth DCA was faced with a similar argument and disposed of it, holding:

We conclude that the trial court misapplied the void for vagueness doctrine in this case because review of the rule under which Rawlins is being prosecuted reveals that a person of common intelligence would not need to guess as to whether he has violated the boat speed regulations.

State v. Rawlins, 623 So.2d 598, 600 (Fla.App. 5 Dist. 1993). In State v. Cumming, this court was faced with a similar argument and held:

The state's argument that Section 372.922, Florida Statutes, enables persons of common intelligence to ascertain whether or not a contemplated act is lawful is supported by the language of the statute. The statute clearly prohibits possession without a permit from the Commission of "any wildlife as defined in this act." The statute, though lacking a specific definition of the term "wildlife," provides effective notice of what wildlife is contemplated as necessitating a permit by dividing that wildlife into the two Classes, and then directing that the regulations of the Commission shall further define the types of animals in the Classes.

State v. Cumming, 365 So.2d 153, 154-55 (Fla. 1978). In all of these cases, the rules implementing the statutes supplied the necessary notice of what the criminal conduct was for due process requirements. In the instant case, the permit holder is on notice that willful violation of any of the requirements of that permit constitutes a misdemeanor. Any reasonably intelligent person in that situation

will know what conduct is proscribed. The court below so holding does not conflict with any other decision of this court or any district court. There is no basis for conflict jurisdiction in this court.

# THIS COURT SHOULD DECLINE TO EXERCISE ITS DISCRETIONARY JURISDICTION

This case presents no new or remarkable legal propositions, nor does it present a conflict with any existing law. Petitioners simply argue the merits of their case and attempt to manufacture either a conflict or an issue warranting the discretionary review by this court. They failed on both counts and this court should decline to exercise its discretionary jurisdiction.

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

Yonathan A. Glogau

Assistant Attorney General

Fla. Bar No. 371823

PL-01, The Capitol

Tallahassee, FL 32399-1050

(850) 488-5899

(850) 414-3300 (as of 10/6/97)

COUNSEL FOR RESPONDENT